**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF  
THE STATE OF NEVADA**

*Supreme Court Case No. 88557*

Electronically Filed  
Sep 05 2024 04:41 PM  
Elizabeth A. Brown  
Clerk of Supreme Court

---

NEVADANS FOR FINANCIAL CHOICE and  
CHRISTINA BAUER,

*Appellants,*

v.

KATE FELDMAN, ET AL.,

*Respondents.*

---

**APPELLANTS NEVADANS FOR FINANCIAL CHOICE AND  
CHRISTINA BAUER'S OPENING BRIEF**

On appeal from the First Judicial District Court  
The Honorable William A. Maddox (Ret.), Senior Judge  
District Court Case No. 24 OC 00018 1B c/w 24 OC 00021 1B, 24 OC 00023 1B,  
and 24 OC 00029 1B

---

Todd L. Bice, Esq., Bar No. 4534  
Jordan T. Smith, Esq., Bar No. 12097

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal as it from a final judgment, NRAP 3A(b)(1), as well as an order refusing to grant an injunction, NRAP 3A(b)(3). The judgment occurred on April 15, 2024, (4.AA.750), with notice of entry of judgment on April 16, 2024, (*id.* at 760). Appellants timely appealed on May 3, 2024, (5.AA.827).

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case is retained by the Supreme Court because it involves a ballot question. NRAP 17(a)(3).

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Whether S-03-2024 violates the single-subject rule because its alleged purpose of "consumer debt relief" is excessively general such that almost any initiative petition could be made to fall within such a generic purpose?
2. Whether S-03-2024's inclusion of modifications to several types of distinct financial transactions under the guise of regulating payday loans constitutes logrolling by using the popularity of regulating payday loans to include other financial transactions?
3. Whether S-03-2024's description of effect is insufficient when it contains false and misleading statements and omits any reference—even general

references—to key provisions like opting Nevada out of major federal banking regulations that Nevada has followed for 40 years?

4. Whether S-03-2024 violates Nevada's constitutional full-text requirement where it includes only some of the proposed statutory changes with the Petition, but does not include redlines for every statutory amendment or abrogation it expressly makes?



## **I. INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Nevadans' ability to propose ballot initiatives is a leading example of its citizens' democratic power. But because of that potent force, Nevada law imposes limitations to ensure each initiative is properly tailored, sufficiently clear, and gives signers adequate information to make an informed decision on whether to sign the petition. Thus, a petition must contain a single subject, cannot have an excessively general purpose, or otherwise "logroll" the public by using a popular provision to join less popular provisions that may not garner public support. Moreover, any petition must include a description of effect, which must provide an expansive view of what the petition seeks to do and how it seeks to accomplish those goals. Finally, to ensure that potential signers have sufficient information to make an informed decision whether to sign the petition, the petition must include the full text of the proposed changes in the law.

But S-03-2024 fails each of these requirements. Its stated purpose is excessively general such that a nearly unlimited amount of petitions touching on financial transactions could be made to fall within its ambit. Moreover, it improperly logrolls the public by focusing on what it calls "predatory payday loans" to encourage the signer to sign a petition regulating over 9 different types of transactions far beyond the scope of so-called payday loans. Further, the description of effect fails to give the necessary expansive view of the Petition and its effect.

Finally, S-03-2024 fails the full-text requirement as it does not include redlines of the statutory provisions it explicitly abrogates, thus robbing potential signers of the information and context necessary to determine whether to sign the petition.

This Court must reverse the district court and enjoin S-03-2024 from being circulated for signatures or submitted to the Legislature.

**A. The Petition.**

On January 24, 2024, Respondent Kate Feldman<sup>1</sup> filed S-03-2024 ("Petition" or "S-03-2024") with the Nevada Secretary of State.<sup>2</sup> (3.AA.449). The Petition proposes several sweeping amendments to multiple unrelated provisions of the Nevada Revised Statutes, beginning by enacting a new chapter: "Chapter 604D: Preventing Predatory Payday and Other Loans Act." (*Id.* at 450). The Petition focuses on "predatory payday lending," as it is replete with references to such loans and payday lenders. (*Id.* at 450-54). But after leading with the boogeyman payday

---

<sup>1</sup> While the Petition did not note that Stop Predatory Lending NV was the PAC promoting the Petition, (3.AA.449), the parties stipulated to add Stop Predatory Lending NV as a party, (*id.* at 473). "Feldman" collectively refers to Respondents Kate Feldman and Stop Predatory Lending NV. Similarly, because the Secretary of State took no position on the legal merits of the challenges to S-03-2024, (*id.* at 481-82), "Respondents" refers only to Feldman and Stop Predatory Lending NV.

<sup>2</sup> Feldman also filed a companion initiative, S-01-2024. (1.AA.8-32). S-01-2024 was substantively identical to S-03-2024 except that S-01-2024 included additional provisions that rewrote Nevada law regarding wage garnishment and collections. (*Compare id.*, with 3.AA.449-65). This Court recently concluded that S-01-2024 violated the single-subject rule. *Feldman v. Aguilar, et al.*, No. 88526, 2024 WL 3083271, at \*1 (Nev. June 20, 2024) (Order of Affirmance)

loans and payday lenders, the Petition slyly references "other high-cost loans" or other non-lending, financial transactions that it also encompasses. (*See id.*). The Petition asserts only three specific purposes: (1) "combatting predatory payday lending and other high-cost loans"; (2) "ensuring that out-of-state lenders cannot flout Nevada law by making payday loans, other loans, or transactions subject to this chapter at unlawful rates to Nevada residents"; and (3) "protecting law-abiding lenders from unfair competition by predatory, out-of-state entities." (*Id.* at 450).

But the Petition casts a far broader net than merely targeting payday loans. As Section 8 of the Petition makes clear, S-03-2024 covers a host of financial transactions far beyond payday loans. The Petition applies to "payday loans," "[h]igh-[i]nterest loans," "[t]itle loans," "[r]efund anticipation loans," "[c]onsumer litigation funding transactions," "[i]ninstallment loans," "[r]etail installment transactions," "[l]oans secured by a life insurance or annuity contract," and "[l]oans made by a bank, savings bank, savings and loan association, or credit union organized, chartered or holding a certificate of authority to do business under the laws of this [S]tate." (*Id.* at 452). And as S-03-2024 explains, these transactions are the tip of the iceberg. (*See id.* ("Notwithstanding any other provisions of law, *transactions subject to this chapter shall include, but shall not be limited to, the following (emphasis added)*)). And making clear that it extends far beyond payday loans, S-03-2024 purports to have Nevada opt out of the federal Depository

Institutions Deregulation and Monetary Control Act of 1980 ("DIDMCA"). (*Id.* at 455).

Yet none of these changes are detailed in S-03-2024's Description of Effect.

There, the proponents meagerly state that:

### **DESCRIPTION OF EFFECT**

This measure addresses high-interest lending practices by establishing maximum rates charged to consumers.

Currently, most consumer loans have no interest rate cap. The proposed cap would set a maximum interest rate of 36% annually on the unpaid balance of the amount financed, and would apply to consumer loans; deferred-deposit transactions ("payday loans"); title loans; and other loan types dependent on future earnings and income.

The initiative also prohibits evading the interest rate cap by structuring transactions to mask their nature as loans covered by this measure, or partnering with out-of-state lenders to violate the rate cap. The initiative voids transactions that violate the cap, and establishes civil penalties.

(*Id.* at 460).

Further, the Petition makes several explicit changes to Nevada law, abrogating provisions establishing that other chapters govern specific financial transactions as well as provisions allowing lenders to charge various interest rates on different types of transactions. (*Id.* at 452-53). But the Petition does not include redlines to NRS 604A.220, NRS 604C.220, NRS CHAPTER 97.285, NRS 662.015, NRS 672.370, NRS 672.460, NRS 672.710, NRS 673.225, NRS 673.3272, AND NRS 677.730—

the provisions it explicitly abrogates. (*See id.*). Instead, it includes a sole addition to NRS 99.050(1). (*Id.* at 455-56).

**B. Appellants Brought Several Challenges Based on the Petition's Various Single-Subject Rule Violations, Full-Text Violations, and its Inadequate Description of Effect.**

Appellants Nevadans for Financial Choice and Christina Bauer (collectively, "Nevadans for Financial Choice" or "Appellants") filed suit, initially challenging S-01-2024, the companion petition to S-03-2024. (1.AA.1-2). After Feldman filed S-03-2024, the Petition at issue in this appeal, Nevadans for Financial Choice filed an amended complaint challenging both petitions. (3.AA.413). Nevadans for Financial Choice's lawsuit was consolidated with similar lawsuits brought by the other appellants, with Nevadans for Financial Choice being the lead case. (*Id.* at 471-73).

Nevadans for Financial Choice alleged that both petitions violated the single-subject rule, the full-text requirement, and contained misleading descriptions of effect.<sup>3</sup> (1.AA.4-6, 33-40; 3.AA.418-21, 466-68). As to S-03-2024, Nevadans for Financial Choice alleged it violated the single-subject rule as it contains about nine distinct categories of financial transactions as well as a catch-all provision that deals with far more financial transactions than the "predatory payday loans" the Petition

---

<sup>3</sup> As the other plaintiffs in the consolidated cases are appellants in this appeal, Nevadans for Financial Choice does not reiterate the arguments those parties made below.

purports to focus on. (1.AA.38).<sup>4</sup> Moreover, it argued that S-03-2024 logrolled potential signers as it used the guise of regulating payday loans and payday lenders to convince potential signers to impose a sweeping usury statute across almost every type of financial transaction that occurs in this state. (*Id.* at 39). And Nevadans for Financial Choice contended that the provision seeking to opt out of the DIDMCA was not related and germane to any of the other provisions in the Petition. (*Id.*).

As to the description of effect, Nevadans for Financial Choice argued that the description is not a "straightforward, succinct nonargumentative summary" but rather "a campaign advertisement purporting to tout the virtues of an usury law . . . in a misleading and non-forthright manner." (*Id.* at 40). The description of effect, as Nevadans for Financial Choice alleged, was defective for both what it included as well as what it omitted. Initially, S-03-2024 made several misleading statements, namely that "most consumer loans have no interest rate cap" and that it applies to enumerated transactions "and other loan types dependent on future earnings and income." (*Id.*). But neither contention has any support within the Petition itself. (*Id.*).

---

<sup>4</sup> While the initial brief focused on S-01-2024, both S-01-2024 and S-03-2024 are substantively identical absent the garnishment provisions of S-01-2024. (*Compare* 1.AA.8-32, *with* 3.AA.449-65). Thus, Nevadans for Financial Choice's brief in support of its amended complaint expressly incorporated the single-subject rule and description of effect arguments from its brief in support of its initial complaint in support of its challenge to S-03-2024. (3.AA.467).

But the Petition's description of effect also omitted several key effects. Specifically, it did not include the broad scope of the numerous financial transactions it purports to cover. (*Id.*). Nor did it include any mention of the proposed opt out from DIDMCA, much less any explanation of the significant consequences of so doing. (*Id.*). And as to the full-text requirement, the Petition fails to include the actual text of all the statutory changes it mandates in violation of the full-text requirement of the Nevada Constitution. (3.AA.467-68).

Feldman filed an omnibus opposition to the various appellants' complaints and briefs in support of their complaints. (*Id.* at 504). As to the single-subject rule, Feldman argued the Petition did not violate the single-subject rule because its provisions "are functionally related and germane to alleviating the worst effects of our modern culture of consumer debt," in relation to its "primary purpose" of a "program of consumer debt relief." (*Id.* at 517).

Turning to the description of effect, Feldman contended that S-03-2024's description is adequate because it "is straightforward," "succinct," "under 200 words," and lacks "any argumentative language." (*Id.* at 524). And as to the full-text requirement, Feldman argued that it is "absurd" to require petitions to include redlines of all the statutory changes they would make, and that S-03-2024 "contain[s] every provision that is proposed to be circulated for signatures and considered by the electorate." (*Id.* at 531-32).

**C. The District Court Did Not Enjoin S-03-2024 From Being Circulated for Signatures.**

The district court concluded that the Petition did not violate Nevada law.<sup>5</sup> Specifically, it found that the "primary purpose of the Petition is to limit interest rates on consumer loan transactions, and that all components of the Petition are functionally related and germane to that purpose." (4.AA.754-55). As to the description of effect, the court concluded that the description "is straightforward, succinct, under 200 words, and there is no basis for a finding of argumentative language." (*Id.* at 756). And turning to the full-text requirement, the court concluded, without citation to any caselaw, "that the Petition contains every provision that is proposed to be circulated for signatures and to be considered by the electorate." (*Id.* at 757).

**II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Petition violates several well-established provisions of Nevada law. First, the Petition violates the single-subject rule because its purpose is excessively general. The purposes both the Petition and its proponents asserted focus on crafting an overall program of debt relief. But as courts throughout the country—including this Court—have long recognized, excessively general purposes violate the single-

---

<sup>5</sup> The district court adopted verbatim Feldman's proposed order despite the Court of Appeals' recent admonishment of "the dangers inherent in the practice of adopting wholesale a litigant's proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law." *Eivazi v. Eivazi*, 139 Nev., Adv. Op. 44, 537 P.3d 476, 480 (Ct. App. 2023).



subject rule. A petition is excessively general when it is so broad that it may cover a near-unlimited amount of initiatives. Here, "debt relief" is so broad and general that nearly any petition purporting to touch on consumer finances may fall under its banner. And the purpose the district court manufactured also fails as the amorphous phrase "consumer loan transactions" similarly covers a nearly unlimited amount of petitions related to financial transactions.

Moreover, S-03-2024 also violates the single-subject rule by engaging in prohibited logrolling. The Petition focuses on a convenient boogeyman—payday loans and payday lenders—but then captures nearly 10 other specific types of financial transactions as well as a nearly unlimited amount of amorphous "other" transactions, including things such as consumer litigation funding—that are otherwise popular compared to payday loans. This bait-and-switch approach to initiatives constitutes quintessential logrolling.

Second, the description of effect is legally deficient. Despite her obligation to present an "expansive" view of the initiative in its description, Feldman instead focused only on three specific types of consumer financial transactions, ignoring the approximately six other specific types of transactions at issue. The description also completely omits any reference to opting out of DIDMCA, even though the massive ripple effects of such a decision would touch on nearly every aspect of Nevada's financial markets.

Third, as to the full-text requirement, the Petition fails as it does not include redlines to any of the statutes it expressly abrogates. And as courts have long made clear, mere reference to the statutes a petition abrogates is insufficient to satisfy the full-text requirement. In sum, Feldman fails to provide potential signers with the information necessary to intelligently decide whether to sign the Petition.

In light of these three independent grounds, this Court must reverse the district court order and enjoin S-03-2024 from being circulated for signatures or submitted to the Legislature.

### **III. ARGUMENT**

#### **A. This Court's Review is De Novo.**

Because the district court resolved this petition challenge absent any factual dispute, this Court reviews de novo the district court order approving S-03-2024. *Helton v. Nev. Voters First PAC*, 138 Nev. 483, 485, 512 P.3d 309, 313 (2022).

#### **B. S-03-2024 Violates the Single-Subject Rule.**

##### ***1. The Petition's provisions must be germane to each other.***

Under the single-subject rule, proposed ballot initiatives must "[e]mbrace but one subject and matters necessarily connected therewith and pertaining thereto." NRS 295.009(1). An initiative complies with the single-subject rule if each provision "is functionally related and germane *to each other* and the initiative's purpose or subject." *Helton*, 138 Nev. at 486-87, 512 P.3d at 314 (emphasis added); *see also*

NRS 295.009(2) (providing that an initiative satisfies the single-subject rule "if the parts of the proposed initiative . . . are functionally related and germane to each other in a way that provides sufficient notice of the general subject of, and of the interests likely to be affected by, the proposed initiative.").

The single-subject rule "promot[es] informed decisions" and "prevent[s] the enactment of unpopular provisions by attaching them to more attractive proposals or concealing them in lengthy, complex initiatives (*i.e.*, logrolling)." *Las Vegas Taxpayer Accountability Comm. v. City Council of Las Vegas (LVTAC)*, 125 Nev. 165, 176-77, 208 P.3d 429, 436-37 (2009); *see also Nevadans for Reprod. Freedom v. Washington*, 140 Nev., Adv. Op. 28, 546 P.3d 801, 807 (2024).

To resolve a single-subject challenge, this Court "must first determine the initiative's purpose or subject and then determine if each provision is functionally related and germane to each other and the initiative's purpose or subject." *Helton*, 138 Nev., at 486-87, 512 P.3d at 314. An initiative proponent "may not circumvent the single-subject rule by phrasing the proposed law's purpose or object in terms of 'excessive generality.'" *LVTAC*, 125 Nev. at 181, 208 P.3d at 439 (quoting *Harbor v. Deukmejian*, 742 P.2d 1290, 1303 (Cal. 1987)).

**2. *S-03-2024's purpose is excessively general, and thus violates the single-subject rule.***

S-03-2024's subject is excessively broad. As an initial matter, the district court disregarded the parties' arguments to construct a subject matter Respondents never

asserted. (*Compare* 3.AA.517 ("[I]n the case of these two Petitions, their primary purpose is an overall program of *consumer debt relief*." (emphasis in original)), *with* 5.AA.754 (finding S-03-2024's "primary purpose . . . is to limit interest rates on consumer loan transactions)).

Turning to the single subject that Respondents actually asserted—that S-03-2024's "primary purpose is an overall program of *consumer debt relief*," (3.AA.517 (emphasis in original))—it is excessively general. An initiative's purpose is excessively general when it is "so broad that a virtually unlimited array of provisions could be considered germane thereto and joined in [the] proposition." *Chem. Specialties Mfrs. Ass'n, Inc. v. Deukmejian*, 278 Cal. Rptr. 128, 133 (Ct. App. 1991), *cited approvingly in LVTAC*, 125 Nev. at 181, 208 P.3d at 439-40 (adopting the excessive generality requirement as part of Nevada's single-subject rule analysis).

Thus, a petition seeking to provide voters "with greater input into the City's redevelopment" fails as "voter approval" is an "excessively general" purpose. *LVTAC*, 125 Nev. at 181, 208 P.3d at 440. Similarly, a petition proposing to make statutory amendments to the state's budgeting process violated the single-subject rule as its purpose—"Fiscal affairs"—was excessively general because it "encompass[es] any substantive measure which has an effect on the budget" and "[t]he number and scope of topics germane to 'fiscal affairs' in this sense is virtually unlimited." *Harbor*,

742 P.2d at 1303-04, *cited approvingly in LVTAC*, 125 Nev. at 181, 208 P.3d at 439-40.

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