**In the  
Supreme Court of the State of Nevada**

DAILYPAY, INC., et al.,

Appellants,

vs.

KATE FELDMAN, an individual;  
STOP PREDATORY LENDING  
NV, a Nevada nonprofit  
corporation; FRANCISCO V.  
AGUILAR, in his official capacity as  
Nevada Secretary of State,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed  
Sep 17 2024 03:53 PM  
Elizabeth A. Brown  
Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No.: 88557

District Court Case No.:  
Lead Case No.: 24 OC 00018 1B

Consolidated with:  
Case No.: 24 OC 00021 1B  
Case No.: 24 OC 00023 1B  
Case No.: 24 OC 00029 1B

**RESPONDENTS' OMNIBUS ANSWERING BRIEF**

BRADLEY S. SCHRAGER, ESQ. (NSB 10217)  
DANIEL BRAVO, ESQ. (NSB 13078)  
**BRAVO SCHRAGER LLP**

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

## **V. ARGUMENT**

### **A. The Initiative Power**

Initiative is the power of the people to propose bills and laws and to enact or reject them at the polls, independent of the legislative assembly. *See Rea v. City of Reno*, 76 Nev. 483, 486, 357 P.2d 585, 586 (1960). The constitutional rights of Nevada to propose initiatives and referenda are sacrosanct, and courts are charged with preserving those rights in every way it can. *See, generally*, Nev. Const. art. 19. And, just as in the case of regular legislation, “[i]n determining whether a ballot initiative



proponent has complied with NRS 295.009, it is not the function of this court to judge the wisdom of the proposed initiative.” *Helton*, 512 P.3d at 316 (quoting *Educ. Initiative PAC v. Comm. to Protect Nev. Jobs*, 129 Nev. 35, 41, 293 P.3d 874, 878 (2013) ). The function of the judiciary at the pre-election stage, rather, is to ensure the access of Nevadans to the processes of direct democracy for validly-proposed measures, such as the Petition.

The Nevada Supreme Court “has consistently held that the initiative powers granted to Nevada’s electorate are broad.” *We People Nevada ex rel. Angle v. Miller*, 124 Nev. 874, 886, 192 P.3d 1166, 1174 (2008). This Court will exercise “every effort to sustain and preserve the people’s constitutional right” under Article 19. *Id.*

The people’s initiative power “is legislative in nature.” *Nevadans for the Prot. of Prop. Rights, Inc. v. Heller*, 122 Nev. 894, 914, 141 P.3d 1235, 1248 (2006). It is “‘coequal, coextensive, and concurrent’ with that of the Legislature; thus, the people have power that is legislative in nature.” *Id.*, 122 Nev. at 914 (quoting *Gallivan v. Walker*, 54 P.3d 1069, 1080 (Utah 2002)); see also *Educ. Freedom PAC v. Reid*, 138 Nev. Adv. Op. 47, 512 P.3d 296, 302 (2022). Because the people’s initiative power is

legislative in nature, that power is subject to the same prerogatives and limitations placed upon a Legislature. *Educ. Freedom PAC v. Reid*, 512 P.3d at 305; *see also State ex rel. Stenberg v. Moore*, 602 N.W.2d 465, 474, 258 Neb. 199, 210 (1999) (“the Legislature and the electorate are concurrently equal in rank as sources of legislation”).

It is important, therefore, to contextualize and reject, at the very outset, one of the major lines of argument presented by multiple Appellants—regarding whether their particular financial product or business model (all of which, indisputably, involve the giving out of money to those in need of it, with the expectation of profit in return) has, at some earlier point in time, been defined or not defined as a “loan” or as “lending” by the Nevada Legislature. But, again indisputably, the Nevada Legislature could choose to define certain transactions as “loans,” and could limit interest rates on those transactions, and could, if it desired, define transactions as “loans” for the purpose of limiting rates of interest. Appellants do not seem to understand that the People, acting in their legislative capacity through the initiative process, have full freedom to define the transactions identified in the Petition as “loans” for the purposes outlined in the proposal. In fact, this is the very point of the

popular initiative process, to permit citizens to propose and enact legislation “independent of the legislative assembly.” *Rea*, 76 Nev. at 486.

It is entirely understandable that Appellants like DailyPay or Preferred Capital would here seek to defend what lobbyists have won them in past years—an advantageous definition of their financial product in *state law*. At the very least, it is clear from recent actions by the federal government that the nature of these financial products is contestable and in flux. In July of this year, the United States Consumer Financial Protection Bureau issued an interpretive rule stating that “**earned wage products, are consumer loans subject to the Truth in Lending Act,**” and finding “that workers using these employer-sponsored products take out an average of 27 such **loans** per year,” and that “**the APR for a typical employer-partnered earned wage cash advance is 109.5%.**”<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> See “CFPB Proposes Interpretive Rule to Ensure Workers Know the Costs and Fees of Paycheck Advance Products: Proposed rule also addresses unusual practice of workers “tipping” their lender or employer,” <https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-proposes-interpretive-rule-to-ensure-workers-know-the-costs-and-fees-of-paycheck-advance-products/> (last accessed on Sept. 3, 2024).

Preferred Capital, for its part, relies on the supposed non-recourse nature of its profitability model to claim its product is not and (one supposes it would insist) cannot be a “loan.” But Preferred Capital is not tossing money around haphazardly, it is doing diligent research on civil cases and then placing a bet on its outcome, and if the recipient of its wagering largesse win—as Preferred Capital presumes it will—the stake is returned, plus a handsome premium on top. This is not much different than a lender who provides hard cash: lenders seek loan recipients who can pay the money back, but if the recipient goes bankrupt and the amount is discharged, the bet does not pay off. Recourse is never guaranteed, in other words. NFFC, DailyPay, ActiveHours, and Preferred Capital—all of them provide money to people in need, and they expect a profitable return on their transaction from the people who take their money. The specific ways in which all of these Appellants lay their bets on consumers is not relevant. The Petition seeks to ensure that the interest on those transactions will not exceed 36 percent annually, it is as simple as that.

But all this is immaterial anyway to whether Nevada statutory legislation proposed by initiative may defined those products and

transactions as loans for purposes of limiting the interest rates Appellants may be permitted to charge consumers. Appellants place an awful lot of weight upon an argument that simply does not pertain to this Court's consideration.<sup>5</sup>

**B. The Petition Complies With Nevada's Single Subject Rule**

**1. Legal Standard Under NRS 295.009(1)**

Nevada law requires that any initiative petition “[e]mbrace but one subject and matters necessarily connected therewith and pertaining thereto.” NRS 295.009(1)(a). “The single-subject requirement ‘facilitates the initiative process by preventing petition drafters from circulating confusing petitions that address multiple subjects.’” *Helton*, 512 P.3d at 314 (quoting *Nevadans for the Prot. of Prop. Rights, Inc.*, 122 Nev. at 902).

There is a very specific single-subject analysis under this Court's jurisprudence. “In considering single-subject challenges, the court must

---

<sup>5</sup> Appellant ActiveHours, Inc. concedes much when it admits that “the Initiative's proponents are free to create new categories of loans, [but] that separate subject must be tackled through a separate initiative.” ActiveHours' Op. Br., at 9. ActiveHours is only half right; Respondents are free to define transactions as loans for the purposes of an interest rate cap, and are also free to do so in this single initiative, as long as the components of the Petition are germane to the primary subject and to one another. Here, defining earned-wage transactions as loans does both.

first determine the initiative’s purpose or subject[.]” *Helton*, 512 P.3d at 314. “To determine the initiative’s purpose or subject,” courts “look[] to its textual language and the proponents’ arguments,” as well as “whether the description of effect articulates an overarching purpose and explains how provisions relate to a single subject.” *Id.* (quoting *Las Vegas Taxpayer Accountability Comm. v. City Council*, 125 Nev. 165, 180, 208 P.3d 429, 439 (2009)).

Once an initiative’s single-subject has been identified, courts must “then determine if each provision is functionally related and germane to each other and the initiative’s purpose or subject.” *Helton*, 512 P.3d at 314. Significantly, “even if an initiative petition proposes more than one change to Nevada law, it may still meet the single-subject requirement, provided that the proposed changes are functionally related and germane to each other and a single subject.” *Id.*, 512 P.3d at 312.

## **2. The District Court’s Order**

Here, the district court determined that the Petition’s purpose is to “limit interest rates on consumer loan transactions.” IV AA 754. This purpose is apparent from the text of the Petition itself; is clearly stated in the Petition’s description of effect; and, as noted above, was argued to

the court below in exactly those words. There is no other purpose to be gleaned from any of those sources, certainly no alternative purpose that can be described as “primary,” and none of the Appellants ventures to identify any other possible purposes. The district court, therefore, had it precisely correct.

The court went on to determine, again with little difficulty, that each provision of the Petition is functionally related and germane to each other and the primary purpose of limiting interest rates on consumer loan transactions. Every provision of the Petition either “establish[es] that limit, make[s] conforming or ancillary changes to other statutes, or—in the case of Sections 10 through 14, provide[s] enforcement mechanisms necessary and germane to the operation of the Petition’s purpose.” IV AA 754–755.

Unavailing before the district court, for example, was Nevadans for Financial Choice’s breathless insistence that the provisions concerning the Depository Institutions Deregulation and Monetary Control Act of 1980 (“DIDMCA”) create either single-subject or description of effect issues for the Petition. The court below understood—as should this Court—that it would be foolish to propose an interest rate cap on

consumer loans in Nevada **without** a provision opting out of DIDMCA, under which any Nevada bank could simply borrow the interest rates of other states with higher rates—or with no usury provisions at all—and evade the rate cap entirely and effortlessly. The NFFC’s resort to casting DIDMCA as venerable and ancient law is, itself, a bit silly, as states have opted out of its interest-rate-exportation provisions, and continue to do so even at this very moment.<sup>6</sup> Colorado, for example, opted out of DIDMCA on July 1, 2024, and did so without any apparent calamity.<sup>7</sup>

---

<sup>6</sup> “Rhode Island and Minnesota Latest States with Bills Opting Out of Federal Banking Law Allowing Interest Rate Exportation,” *Consumer Financial Services Monitor*, February 14, 2024, <https://www.consumerfinancialserviceslawmonitor.com/2024/02/rhode-island-and-minnesota-latest-states-with-bills-opting-out-of-federal-banking-law-allowing-interest-rate-exportation/> (last accessed Sept. 3, 2024). Also, it bears noting that 150 years’ worth of political party nominations and plurality-voting elections was apparently much less worthy of veneration by recent ballot measure proponents.

<sup>7</sup> See <https://www.consumerfinancialserviceslawmonitor.com/2023/06/colorado-passes-legislation-seeking-to-stop-state-chartered-banks-from-preempting-colorados-usury-limit/> (last accessed Sept. 3, 2024).

Beginning in the 1990s, certain unscrupulous lenders started to partner with state-chartered banks, in a practice known as “rent-a-bank,” to evade interest rate caps by routing loans through banks chartered out of state that can “export” the interest rate of their home state to borrowers in other states. Section 14 of the Petition ensures that these lenders will not be able to use rent-a-bank schemes to evade the proposed rate cap by opting Nevada out of the federal statute that allows out-of-state banks to “export” their interest rate to Nevada consumers. I



That NFFC can claim that the opportunity to evade state-law interest rate limitations somehow “benefits consumers” is an example of the liberties Appellants take in order to justify their opposition to the Petition but, again, provides no grounds for its invalidation.

The district court was careful and exact, and conducted the same analysis this Court will undertake, most likely with the same conclusion: the Petition is a valid exercise of the initiative power.

### **3. The Petition Satisfies The Single-Subject Rule**

#### **a. The provisions of the Petition are all functionally related and germane to one another**

The Petition’s primary purpose is to limit interest rates on consumer loan transactions, and all components of the measure are functionally related and germane to that purpose. In fact, all components

---

AA 126. Similarly, Section 11 of the Petitions also combats rent-a-bank by making any lender whose business model is routing loans through an out-of-state bank subject to the initiative’s rate cap. I AA 124–125. Both provisions are closely tied to the purposes of the rate cap itself, because they ensure that it cannot be evaded. *See* <https://oag.ca.gov/news/press-releases/attorney-general-bonta-predatory-lending-and-illegal-rent-bank-schemes-have-no> (last accessed September 3, 2024), for a statement by the Office of the California Attorney General regarding DIDMCA and the proliferation of rent-a-bank schemes to evade state interest rate caps.

of the measure are *necessary* to the appropriate functioning of the Petition's project.

The Petition's text and description of effect both confirm its primary purpose. As the description of effect explains, the Petition "addresses high-interest lending practices by establishing maximum interest rates charged to consumers." I AA 131. The description of effect therefore "articulates an overarching purpose" that is neither undermined nor contradicted by any of the Petition's other provisions. *Helton*, 512 P.3d at 314.

This Court's decision in *Helton* underscores the correctness of the district court's decision. In *Helton*, the initiative's "single subject" was "the *framework* by which specified officeholders are presented to voters and elected." *Helton*, 512 P.3d at 314. That the provisions were separate (and even arguably independent, as the Court noted in its opinion) was not material to a single-subject analysis because the provisions had a functional relationship to one another in achieving the purpose of the initiative generally. Obviously, in *Helton*, each aspect of the new rules governing primary elections did not relate directly to each aspect of the separate rules governing general elections; the specific ranked-choice

rules that would govern general elections, for example, bore no direct relationship to the rules governing which party name would be listed on a primary ballot next to a given candidate. *See id.* at 313. But that was not how the Court approached the single-subject question; instead, it focused on the overall “policy changes” that the petition would have adopted, not the specific implementation details, and it assessed whether the two policy changes involved unrelated matters or a single framework. *Id.* at 314–15. Here, in fact, and in contrast to *Helton*, the overarching change proposed in the Petition is singular—limiting interest rates on consumer loans, and all other provisions support that central goal. This Court need not even contemplate any potential nexus, as it had to in *Helton*.

The Court’s recent decision in *Nevadans for Reprod. Freedom v. Washington*, 40 Nev. Adv. Op. 28, 546 P.3d 801 (2024), also emphasizes this conclusion from *Helton*. There, the Court again stated that “an initiative petition can propose more than one change and still comply with the single-subject requirement as long as the changes are functionally related and germane to each other and the overall subject of the initiative.” *Id.*, 546 P.3d at 807 (citing *Helton*, 512 P.3d at 315). That

the provisions at issue in *Nevadans for Reprod. Freedom* “may be addressed by various NRS chapters, they each concern the subject of reproduction and can be addressed together in a petition addressing that subject.” *Id.* Similarly, here, although the Petition may touch upon issues or matters that cut across multiple existing statutes or even chapters, the only pertinent determination is whether those proposed changes are functionally related and germane to each other and the overall subject of the measure.

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